
Spelthorne Borough Council, Council Offices, Knowle Green 
 
Staines-upon-Thames TW18 1XB 
 
www.spelthorne.gov.uk customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk Telephone 01784 451499 
 

 
Spelthorne 

Borough Council  

 

Council Meeting 

Thursday, 9 October 2025 

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/
mailto:customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk




 
 

1 October 2025 
 
 Please reply to:  

Contact: Karen Wyeth 
Direct line: 01784 446341 
E-mail: k.wyeth@spelthorne.gov.uk 
  
  

 
 
To the Councillors of Spelthorne Borough Council 
 
I hereby summon you to attend a meeting of the Council to be held at The Council’s 
Offices, Knowle Green, Staines-upon-Thames on Thursday, 9 October 2025 
commencing at 7.00 pm for the transaction of the following business.  
 

 
Daniel Mouawad 
Chief Executive 
 
Councillors are encouraged to wear their badge of past office at the Council meeting. 
 
Councillors are reminded to notify Committee Services of any Gifts and Hospitality offered 
to you since the last Council meeting so that these may be entered in the Gifts and 
Hospitality Declaration book.  
 
 
 
 



 

 AGENDA  

Description Page nos. 

1.   Apologies for absence  

 To receive any apologies for non-attendance. 
 

 

2.   Minutes  

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Council meeting held 
on 17 July, 07 August and 04 September 2025. 
 

7 - 20 

3.   Disclosures of Interest  

 To receive any disclosures of interest from Councillors in accordance 
with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 
 

 

4.   Announcements from the Mayor  

 To receive any announcements from the Mayor. 
 

 

5.   Announcements from the Leader  

 To receive any announcements from the Leader. 
 

 

6.   Announcements from the Chief Executive  

 To receive any announcements from the Chief Executive. 
 

 

7.   Questions from members of the public  

 The Leader, or their nominee, to answer any questions raised by 
members of the public in accordance with Standing Order 13. 
 
At the time of publication of the agenda one question has been received 
(see attached document). 
 

21 - 22 

8.   Thameside House 23 - 34 

9.   Exclusion of Public and Press (Exempt Business)  

 To move the exclusion of the Press/Public for the following items, in 
view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the meaning of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as amended 
by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 and by the 
Local Government (Access to information) (Variation) Order 2006. 
 

 

10.   Sunbury Site 35 - 54 

11.   Reports from the Committee Chairs  

 To receive and agree the reports from the Committee Chairs.  
 

 

12.   Motions  



 To receive any motions from Councillors in accordance with Standing 
Order 16. 
 

 

13.   General questions  

 The Leader, or their nominee, to answer questions from Councillors on 
matters affecting the Borough, in accordance with Standing Order 14. 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Minutes of the Council 
17 July 2025 

 
 

Present: 

  
  

 
Councillors: 
 

J.T.F. Doran 

S.A. Dunn 

M. Arnold 

M.M. Attewell 

C. Bateson 

S.N. Beatty 

M. Beecher 

S. Bhadye 

M. Bing Dong 

H.S. Boparai 

M. Buck 

T. Burrell 

 

J. Button 

J.P. Caplin 

R. Chandler 

D.C. Clarke 

S.M. Doran 

R.V. Geach 

M. Gibson 

K.M. Grant 

S. Gyawali 

K. Howkins 

N. Islam 

M.J. Lee 

 

A. Mathur 

S.C. Mooney 

Neall 

L. E. Nichols 

K.E. Rutherford 

D. Saliagopoulos 

J.R. Sexton 

J.A. Turner 

B. Weerasinghe 

H.R.D. Williams 

 

 

  

 
 

Apologies: Councillors L.H. Brennan, J.R. Boughtflower, D.L. Geraci 
and P.N. Woodward 

 
 

62/25   Minutes  
 

The minutes of the Council meeting held on 22 May 2025 were agreed as a 
correct record. 
 

63/25   Disclosures of Interest  
 

Councillors Attewell, Boparai, Mooney, Sexton and Weerasinghe advised they 
were also Surrey County Councillors. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 
Council, 17 July 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

Councillor Nichols advised that he was on the Knowle Green Estates Board of 
Directors.  
 
Councillor Dunn advised that as she was the Chair of the Licensing 
Committee, she would not be taking part in the debate nor voting on Agenda 
Item 15 (Motions). 
 

64/25   Announcements from the Mayor  
 

The Mayor made the following announcements: 
 
Since taking office in May, it has been an incredibly busy and rewarding time. 
I’ve had the pleasure of attending numerous local events, each highlighting 
the vibrancy and spirit of our community. 
 
Several significant anniversaries were celebrated, including the 25th 
anniversary of the Sunbury Millennium Embroidery, the 35th anniversary of 
our twinning with Melun, and the 50th anniversary of Squire’s Garden 
Centres. These milestones reflect the rich history and strong relationships 
within our Borough. 
 
One of the highlights was the final of the Spelthorne Business Plan 
Competition in June. It was inspiring to see so many talented young 
entrepreneurs presenting innovative ideas. Congratulations to the winners, 
Natalie and Louise, who received £4,000 to help launch their ‘Your Song 
Storybook’ project. 
 
I also had the pleasure of attending Halliford School’s speech day, Staines 
Prep’s leavers’ evening, and Thomas Knyvett’s summer musical performance. 
The enthusiasm and ambition shown by the students was truly uplifting, and I 
wish them all the best in their future endeavours. 
 
On 29 June, my Civic Service at St Mary’s Church in Stanwell was blessed 
with beautiful sunshine and a wonderful turnout. My sincere thanks to all who 
attended and to Father Stuart  for leading the service and prayers. 
 
It was an honour to attend the Royal Navy Parade, a biennial event hosted by 
the Staines & Egham Sea Cadets showcasing their impressive skills and 
training. I also had the opportunity to attend an Armed Forces Briefing which 
offered valuable insight into current developments within the Royal Navy, 
Army and Royal Air Force. 
 
I am deeply grateful to all the event hosts for their warm hospitality and for 
making these occasions so memorable. I look forward to continuing to serve 
and support the community in the months ahead. 
 
 
 

65/25   Announcements from the Leader  

Page 8



 
Council, 17 July 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

 
The Leader and the Deputy Leader made the following announcements: 
 
Deputy Leader -  
 
“We are consulting on the final draft of the Spelthorne Design Code which will 
give guidance to developers to ensure that new buildings are well designed 
and respect the character of our towns and open spaces. The consultation will 
last for 6 weeks and will close on Monday 04 August 2025. 
 
 
I am pleased to announce that Sunbury Walled Garden, Staines Cemetery 
and Sunbury Park (including Orchard Meadow) have been awarded Breen 
Flat Awards. Quality Parks and green spaces like these make Spelthorne a 
happier and healthier place to live and I would like to thank the 
Neighbourhood Services Team who have worked so hard to make these 
spaces worthy of this prestigious award”. 
 
The Leader –  
 
The Local Government Reorganisation consultation is now live and it 
represents the most significant change to local government in Surrey in over 
50 years. This is a once-in-a-generation opportunity for residents to shape 
how local decisions are made and how vital services are delivered across our 
communities. This Council is backing the three-unitary model, which we 
believe would deliver stronger public services, unlock new opportunities for 
economic growth, and ensure we stay closely connected to the people we 
serve.  

 
To help raise awareness, we have also put up banners across the Borough 
promoting the consultation and encouraging participation. In addition, a leaflet 
will be delivered to your doorstep during the week commencing 21st July. We 
urge all residents to take part. Please do not miss your chance to have your 
say - this change will affect all of us, and it is essential that we protect and 
preserve the things that matter most to our communities. 

 
In response to residents’ concerns about antisocial behaviour, a new Public 
Space Protection Order (PSPO) has been introduced across the Borough. 
This order specifically targets the misuse of catapults, face coverings such as 
masks, and the inappropriate use of personal transport like e-bikes and 
scooters. The PSPO gives both the Council and the Police greater powers to 
tackle behaviours that have increasingly become a problem in recent years.  

 
To raise awareness and encourage action, banners have been placed across 
the Borough, along with signage in key locations. These support the “Report,  
Report” message encouraging residents to speak up and help make a 
difference. It is vital that residents speak up and report problems to the Police 
so action can be taken where it’s needed most. This message is reinforced in 
the video I worked on with the Borough Commander, which is available on our 
website and social media channels. Only together can we improve our 

Page 9



 
Council, 17 July 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

Borough. Let’s work as one community to keep our public spaces safe, 
respectful, and welcoming for all. 

 
I had the pleasure of joining Cllr Med Buck and the Rotary Club of Staines for 
a Bastille Day celebration earlier this week. The event marked the enduring 
friendship and growing ties between Spelthorne and our twin town, Melun in 
France - a relationship that continues to flourish through shared community 
spirit, cultural exchange, and collaboration. The event was well attended and 
we were honoured by the virtual presence of our French counterparts 
including the Deputy Mayor who joined the celebration and reaffirmed their 
commitment to the shared values of liberty, equality, and fraternity”. 
 

66/25   Announcements from the Chief Executive  
 

The Deputy Chief Executive made the following announcements: 
 
“On behalf of the Chief Executive, I am pleased to highlight the positive 
engagement of officers, since the Commissioners arrived in May, in the 
preparations for completing the Improvement and Recovery Plan for the 
Council. We look forwards to working with Commissioners and their team, and 
with Councillors to bring a full draft Improvement and Recovery Plan to 
Council in September for approval. 
 
Echoing the Mayor’s earlier comments, I would like to welcome Cllr Neall as 
the newly elected councillor for Ashford Town ward. I would also like to thank 
all of the Council’s officers involved in running and staffing the by-election 
process over a long working day on the 19th June and into the early hours of 
the 20th June”. 
 

67/25   Questions from members of the public  
 

The Mayor reported that, under Standing Order 14, no question had been 
received from a member of the public. 
 

68/25   Changes to the Allocation of Seats for Committees  
 

The Mayor advised Council that this item had been deferred to an 
Extraordinary Council Meeting to be held in September 2025. 
 

69/25   Second Home Council Tax Premium  
 

Council resolved to approve the application of a Council Tax Premium of 
100% in respect of second homes with effect from 01 April 2027. 
 

70/25   Counter Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy  
 

Council resolved to update the Council’s Constitution with the revised 
Counter Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy. 

Page 10



 
Council, 17 July 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

 

71/25   Recruitment of Independent Member of the Audit Committee  
 

Council resolved to appoint Mr Sati Sehra as the second Independent 
Member of the Audit Committee  
 

72/25   Amendments to the Constitution  
 

Council resolved to approve the proposed changes to the Constitution as set 
out in the report. 
 

73/25   Amendments to the Constitution – New Protocol on Members 
Relations  
 

Council resolved to agree that the Protocol On Relations Between Members 
be adopted into the Council’s Constitution. 
 

74/25   Reports from the Committee Chairs  
 

The Chairs of the Committees presented reports which outlined the matters 
their Committees had considered since the last Council meeting. 
 
Council resolved to note the Chair’s reports. 
 

75/25   Motions  
 

In accordance with Standing Order 16 the Council received on written Notice 
of Motion. 
 
Councillor Boparai moved and Councillor Rutherford seconded the following 
motion: 
 
“This Council resolves to: 
 
Support Brent Council's plan for Gambling Reform, which calls for government 
reforms to address gambling premises posing risks to local welfare and 
safety. The council will lobby the government to place all gambling premises 
in a single planning category, consider local social and health factors, 
introduce a statutory levy on gambling operators, and restrict gambling 
advertising and promotions. 
 
This includes writing to the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport, 
promote campaigns, and work with local health and voluntary sector partners. 
Joining and promoting the Coalition to End Gambling Ads (CEGA) and any 
similar national or local campaigns aimed at reducing gambling harm and 
reforming the law. 
 

Page 11



 
Council, 17 July 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

Working with local health and voluntary sector partners to signpost residents 
to gambling addiction support and education initiatives”. 
 
A named vote was requested by Councillor Lee 
 

For Councillors J Doran, Attewell, Bateson, Beatty, Beecher, 
Bhadye, Bing Dong, Boparai, Buck, Button, Caplin, 
Chandler, Geech, Gibson, Gyawali, Islam, Mathur, 
Mooney, Neall, Nichols, Rutherford, Saliagopoulos, 
Sexton, Williams – 24 votes 

Against 0 votes 

Abstain Councillors Dunn, Arnold, Burrell, Clarke, S Doran, 
Grant, Howkins, Lee, Turner, Weerasinghe – 10 votes 

 
 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolved that the Council would support Brent Council’s plan for gambling 
reform. 
 

76/25   General questions  
 

The Mayor reported that no general questions had been received. 
 

Page 12



 
 

 
 

Minutes of the Council 
4 September 2025 

 
 

Present: 

  
  

 
Councillors: 
 

J.T.F. Doran 

S.A. Dunn 

M. Arnold 

M.M. Attewell 

C. Bateson 

S.N. Beatty 

M. Beecher 

S. Bhadye 

H.S. Boparai 

L.H. Brennan 

M. Buck 

 

T. Burrell 

J. Button 

J.P. Caplin 

R. Chandler 

D.C. Clarke 

D.L. Geraci 

M. Gibson 

K.M. Grant 

S. Gyawali 

K. Howkins 

N. Islam 

 

M.J. Lee 

A. Mathur 

S.C. Mooney 

Neall 

L. E. Nichols 

K.E. Rutherford 

D. Saliagopoulos 

J.R. Sexton 

B. Weerasinghe 

H.R.D. Williams 

 

 

  

Apologies: Councillors M. Bing Dong, J.R. Boughtflower, S.M. Doran, 
R.V. Geach and J.A. Turner 

 
 

79/24   Disclosures of Interest  
 

Councillors Attewell, Boparai, Mooney, Sexton and Weerasinghe advised they 
were also Surrey County Councillors. 
 
Councillor Nichols advised that he was on the Knowle Green Estates Board of 
Directors. 
 
Councillor Woodward advised that he was on the Spelthorne Direct Services 
Board. 
 
 
 

Page 13



 
Council, 4 September 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

80/24   Motions  
 

In accordance with Standing Order 16 the Council received three written 
Notices of Motions. 
 
Councillor Lee moved and Councillor Howkins seconded the following motion: 
 
“In light of the decision made on 19 August by Mr Justice Eyre, granting 
Epping Forest District Council an injunction to cease the inappropriate use of 
the Bell Hotel in its district as an asylum seekers centre.  That the Council, 
without delay, engages the services of the KC used by Epping Forest Council 
(or another suitable experienced KC) to represent Spelthorne Borough 
Council in obtaining the same interim injunction against the owner of the 
Stanwell Hotel and to stop its use as an asylum seeker centre. 
 
We ask all councillors to support this motion.”  
 
During the debate it was proposed by Councillor Sexton and seconded by 
Councillor Bateson that the following amendment to Councillor Lee’s motion 
be considered: 
 
“In light of the decision made on 19 August by Mr Justice Eyre, granting 
Epping Forest District Council an injunction to cease the inappropriate use of 
the Bell Hotel in its district as an asylum seekers centre and subsequent Court 
of Appeal decision that this Council, without delay: 
 

1. Engages the services of an experienced KC to represent Spelthorne 
Borough Council in taking all and any available action and exploring all 
avenues with regards to Stanwell Hall Hotel and stopping its use as an 
asylum seekers centre; and 

 
2. Lobby the Home Office to cease relying on hotels as accommodation 

for asylum seekers.” 
 

Councillor Howkins requested a recorded vote on the amended motion put 
forward by Councillor Sexton. 
 

For Councillors  J, Doran, Dunn, Arnold, Attewell, Bateson, 
Beatty, Beecher, Bhadye, Boparai, Brennan, Buck, 
Burrell, Button, Caplin, Chandler, Clarke, Geraci, Gibson, 
Grant, Gyawali, Howkins, Islam, Lee, Mathur, Mooney, 
Neall, Rutherford, Saliagopoulos, Sexton, Weerasinghe, 
Williams, Woodward – 32 votes 

Against 0 votes 

Abstain Councillor Nichols – 1 vote 

  
 
The amended motion was carried and therefore became the substantive 
motion for council to consider. 
 

Page 14



 
Council, 4 September 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Buck and seconded by Councillor Howkins that 
the following amendment to Councillor Sexton’s amended motion be 
considered: 
 
“In light of the decision made on 19 August by Mr Justice Eyre, granting 
Epping Forest District Council an injunction to cease the inappropriate use of 
the Bell Hotel in its district as an asylum seekers centre and subsequent Court 
of Appeal decision that this Council, without delay: 
 

3. Engages the services of an experienced KC to represent Spelthorne 
Borough Council in taking all and any available action and exploring all 
avenues with regards to Stanwell Hall Hotel and stopping its use as an 
asylum seekers centre; and 

 
4. Lobby the Home Office to cease relying on hotels as accommodation 

for asylum seekers.” 
 

And further that the Council resolve to initiate the process under the Licensing 
Act 2003 to revoke the operating licence of Stanwell Hotel, alongside other 
enforcement powers under planning law, and to request an immediate police 
investigation into the alleged drug-related concerns raised by residents and 
stop its use as an asylum seeker centre. 
 
We ask all councillors to support this motion”. 
 
Councillor Howkins requested a named vote on Councillor Buck’s amended 
motion. 
 

For Councillors Attewell, Bhadye, Brenan, Buck, Chandler, 
Clarke, Howkins, Islam, Lee, Mathur, Mooney, 
Saliagopoulos, Weerasinghe, Woodward – 14 votes 

Against Councillors J Doran, Dunn, Arnold, Bateson, Beatty, 
Beecher, Boparai, Burrell, Button, Caplin, Geraci, Gibson, 
Grant, Gyawali, Neall, Nichols, Rutherford, Sexton, 
Williams – 19 votes 

Abstain 0 votes 

 
Councillor Buck’s amended motion FELL. 
 
Council was asked to vote on the substantive motion that was put forward by 
Councillor Sexton. 
 
Council resolved to agree the following motion: 
 
“In light of the decision made on 19 August by Mr Justice Eyre, granting 
Epping Forest District Council an injunction to cease the inappropriate use of 
the Bell Hotel in its district as an asylum seekers centre and subsequent Court 
of Appeal decision that this Council, without delay: 
 

Page 15



 
Council, 4 September 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

5. Engages the services of an experienced KC to represent Spelthorne 
Borough Council in taking all and any available action and exploring all 
avenues with regards to Stanwell Hall Hotel and stopping its use as an 
asylum seekers centre; and 

 
6. Lobby the Home Office to cease relying on hotels as accommodation 

for asylum seekers.” 
 

 

Page 16



 
 

 
 

Minutes of the Council 
7 August 2025 

 
 

Present: 

  
  

 
Councillors: 
 

J.T.F. Doran 

S.A. Dunn 

M.M. Attewell 

C. Bateson 

S.N. Beatty 

M. Beecher 

S. Bhadye 

M. Bing Dong 

H.S. Boparai 

M. Buck 

T. Burrell 

 

J. Button 

J.P. Caplin 

D.C. Clarke 

S.M. Doran 

R.V. Geach 

D.L. Geraci 

M. Gibson 

K.M. Grant 

S. Gyawali 

K. Howkins 

M.J. Lee 

 

A. Mathur 

S.C. Mooney 

Neall 

L. E. Nichols 

K.E. Rutherford 

D. Saliagopoulos 

J.R. Sexton 

J.A. Turner 

B. Weerasinghe 

H.R.D. Williams 

 

  

Apologies: Councillors M. Arnold, L.H. Brennan, J.R. Boughtflower, 
R. Chandler, A. Gale, N. Islam and P.N. Woodward 

 

  

77/24   Disclosures of Interest  
 

Councillors Attewell, Boparai, Mooney, Sexton and Weerasinghe advised they 
were also Surrey County Councillors. 
 
Councillor Nichols declared that he was on the Knowle Green Estates Board 
of Directors. 
 

78/24   Motion - Stanwell Hotel  
 

In accordance with Standing Order 16 the Council received one written Notice 
of Motion. 
 

Page 17



 
Council, 7 August 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

Councillor Sexton moved and Councillor Bateson seconded the following 
motion: 
 
The Council call upon the Homes Office to: 
 

1. Immediately reconsider its plans to utilise the Stanwell Hotel to house 

adult male only asylum seekers, 

2. Actively consult and work with the Local Authority, 

3. Continue engaging with key stakeholders and support the existing 

client group of families and single female asylum seekers at the 

Stanwell Hotel; and 

4. Give due regard to public concerns, local services and the local 

community 

It was proposed by Councillor Lee and seconded by Councillor Mooney to 
amend the motion to add another request to the four above, as follows: 
 

1. Call the immediate and permanent closure of the hotel used a as a 

asylum seeker facility and urge the Home Office to return the hotel 

back to the local community. 

 
Councillor Lee requested for a named vote to be taken. 
 

For Councillors Attewell, Bhadye, Bing Dong, Buck, Clarke, 
Geraci, Howkins, Lee, Mathur, Mooney, Rutherford, 
Saliagopoulos, Weerasinghe – 13 votes 

Against Councillors J Doran, Dunn, Bateson, Beatty, Beecher, 
Boparai, Burrell, Button, Caplin, Gibson, Grant, Gyawali, 
Neal, Nichols, Sexton, Turner Williams – 17 votes 

Abstain Councillor Geach 

 
The amended motion FELL 
 
The Leader read out the following statement to the Chamber: 
 

“We are here tonight because the people of Stanwell have serious and valid 

concerns about the proposed changes to the Stanwell Hotel. To be clear, the 
Home Office will determine the outcome regarding the hotel independently. 
Whilst they are not obligated to consult with us or consider our 
representations, they are now actively engaging with us. 
 
While we can express our views and pass motions, we must operate within 
the limits of existing legislation. That said, I - and every member of this 
chamber, will do everything in our power to protect the interests of our 
residents and to challenge decisions that are not in the best interest of our 
community. 
I want to speak directly to every resident and reassure you, your voices are 
being heard, and your concerns are not being ignored by this Council. 

Page 18



 
Council, 7 August 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

 
Earlier today, alongside Councillor Jon Button, I met with senior officials at the 
Home Office. We went into that meeting with one clear mission: to ensure that 
the voices of Stanwell are carried straight to the top. 
 
We left no room for doubt. Once again, we made it absolutely clear that the 
Stanwell Hotel is not, and never will be, a suitable location for this proposal. 
We have repeated, firmly and unequivocally, that this plan does not work for 
our community. 
 
However, I must be honest with you: as of now, we have not received the 
reassurances we wanted. The Home Office has not yet committed to stopping 
this proposal. 
We remain strongly opposed, and we will continue to challenge their plans at 
every possible opportunity. I will be seeking external legal advice on behalf of 
our community, and you can be rest assured that we will keep residents 
updated at every stage.  
 
Following today’s meeting, I have immediately written to the Home Office, 
asking for a full written response to every issue we raised. This isn’t just about 
words, this is about accountability, transparency, and standing up for our 
community. 
 
Stanwell is a small, close-knit village, and the Home Office’s plan to rehouse 
only single male asylum seekers in the hotel is simply not suitable. Housing 
one specific demographic in isolation, without integration plans or 
engagement, risks creating social tension and does not serve the wellbeing of 
either the local community or individuals moving in. 
 
This arrangement does not reflect a balanced or sustainable approach. 
Right now, the hotel is home to families, including vulnerable women and 
children – who have settled here, whose children attend local schools and 
who have formed strong connections within our community. Uprooting them 
now would cause severe and unnecessary disruption to their lives. That is not 
something we can stand by and accept quietly. 
 
This council has a proud record of supporting asylum seekers and refugees. 
We recognise the importance of fair and humane processes. And while we 
support the Home Office’s broader goal of reducing reliance on hotels, the 
Stanwell Hotel is not the right location for this particular plan. 
 
Despite the Home Office’s recent engagement, I remain deeply concerned 
about the potential consequences. So tonight, I am calling directly on the 
Minister of State for Border Security and Asylum, Dame Angela Eagle DBE 
MP. To listen to the local authority and to listen to the community. Reconsider 
this decision and reverse it. 
In recent days, we have seen residents gather outside the hotel and here 
tonight to make their voices heard, peacefully and respectfully. I, along with 
my fellow councillors, want to thank everyone who exercised their democratic 
right to protest in a calm and lawful manner. 

Page 19



 
Council, 7 August 2025 - continued 

 

 
 

 
Unfortunately, there have also been isolated incidents involving criminal 
behaviour, which have prompted the need for additional security measures at 
the hotel. We condemn such actions. It is vital that we continue to address 
this issue with respect, calm, and unity. 
 
This Council stands together in our commitment to the wellbeing of Stanwell 
and the wider Borough. This is our home. 
  
We urge the Home Office to urgently to find a different solution that is fair, 
safe, and appropriate. 
 
Thank you”. 
 
 
The motion was carried and it was resolved that the Council would write to 
the Home Office.  
 

Page 20



Council Meeting – 09 October 2025 

Agenda Item 7 – Questions from Members of the Public 

 

Question Received from Kath Sanders :- 

 

“What is the Council's official response to the previous auditor's (BDO's) 

Value for Money Combined Annual Audit Letters/Reports for the five 

years ending March 2019-2023 which were presented to the Audit 

Committee on Thursday, 25th September 2025”? 

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 

Business Infrastructure & Growth Committee -   

11 September 2025 

Thameside House 

Committee Report Checklist  
  

Please submit the completed checklists with your report. If final draft report 
does not include all the information/sign offs required, your item will be 
delayed until the next meeting cycle.  

  
Stage 1  
Report checklist – responsibility of report owner 
  

ITEM  Yes / No  Date 

Councillor engagement / input from Chair prior to 
briefing 

Yes 18/08/25 

Commissioner engagement (if report focused on 
issues of concern to Commissioners such as 
Finance, Assets etc) 

yes 01/09/25 

Relevant Group Head review   yes 13 8 25 

MAT+ review (to have been circulated at least 5 
working days before Stage 2) 

yes 14/08/25 

This item is on the Forward Plan for the relevant 
committee  

yes 11/9/25 

 
Reviewed 

by  
 

Risk comments BS 27/08/25 

Legal comments  LH  08/08/25 

HR comments (if applicable) n/a  

 
For reports with material financial or legal implications the author should 
engage with the respective teams at the outset and receive input to their 
reports prior to asking for MO or s151 comments. 
 
Do not forward to stage 2 unless all the above have been completed.  
 
Stage 2 
Report checklist – responsibility of report owner  

ITEM Completed 
by  

Date 

Monitoring Officer commentary – at least 5 working 
days before MAT  

LH 11/08/25 

S151 Officer commentary – at least 5 working days 
before MAT  

TC 14/08/25 

   

Confirm final report cleared by MAT  Yes 19/08/25 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



   

 

 
 

Business Infrastructure & Growth Committee -   

11 September 2025 

Title Council Land and Property Disposals - Thameside House 

Purpose of the report To make a decision to progress with the disposal of Thameside 
House to the preferred bidder 

Report Author Bruce Strong – Asset Manager 

Ward(s) Affected All 

Exempt Main Report – No  

Appendix 1 - Yes  

Exemption Reason The Appendix contains exempt information within the meaning of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 
1985 and by the Local Government (Access to information) 
(Variation) Order 2006 Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) and in all the circumstances of 
the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information because, 
disclosure to the public would prejudice the financial position of the 
authority in any contract or other type of negotiation with a 
prospective purchaser who could then know the position of the 
Council.   

Corporate Priority Financial Resilience 

Recommendations 

 

Business Infrastructure and Growth Committee is asked to: 

1) Recommend to Full Council to: 
 

a) Approve the disposal of Thameside House, Staines to the 
preferred bidder (A) as set out in more detail in the 
confidential Appendix 1 attached to this report. 
 

b) Delegate authority to the Group Head of Assets in 
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of Business 
Infrastructure and Growth Committee to agree any 
variations to the terms of the disposal relating to Thameside 
House. 

 
c) Delegate authority to the Group Head of Corporate 

Governance to enter into a transfer to complete the disposal 
and any ancillary legal documentation required in relation to 
the proposed disposal of Thameside House. 

 

Reason for 
Recommendation 

The disposal to the preferred bidder (A) will achieve the highest 
and best value for the property and contribute towards the financial 
resilience of the Council, by generating a capital receipt which will 

Page 24



   

 

 
 

 
 
 
1. Summary of the report 

What is the situation Why we want to do something 

 Further to the previous 
marketing, the property has 
recently been marketed again 
on an extensive basis to ensure 
full market coverage and 
offering the unencumbered 
freehold.  

 Due to the similarity of highest 
offers we requested best bids 
from the top 6 highest offers. 
One further bid came in after the 
best bid deadline which is also 
included. All offers are listed in 
Appendix 1. 

 The Council’s recently adopted 
Development Delivery Strategy 
makes provision for progression 
of the development of specified 
sites via partnership working 
which may take the form of a 
disposal or joint venture style 
agreements.   

 A disposal would bring an end to 
the holding costs for the site that 
the Council is incurring which from 
2025-26 are being charged to the 
Revenue Budget. These holding 
costs impacting on the Revenue 
Budget are rising significantly as a 
result of Minimum Revenue 
Provision accounting changes 
and moving forwards would 
equate to £2.5m per annum. 

 

 If the Council do not progress a 
sale based on current interest it is 
anticipated the market will lose 
confidence in the Council’s 
intention to dispose of the site, 
which is anticipated to significantly 
impact future interest from third 
parties. 

 The Council has statutory 
obligations to achieve best 
consideration in relation to its land 
and property disposals, and this 
directs the Council to consider the 
best financial value alongside 
social value within its decision 
making.   

 Continuing to hold this asset within 
the Council’s ownership will place 
greater strain on the Council’s 
revenue budget resultant from 
financing and holding costs. This 
is in the context of the 
Improvement and Recovery Plan 
coming to Council to maximise 
capital receipts to accelerate the 
reduction in the Council’s external 
debt levels. 

enable the Council to pay down early some of its debt. The 
disposal will also put a stop to the holding and finance costs 
associated with this site.   

Page 25



   

 

 
 

 

 

This is what we want to do about it These are the next steps 

• The Committee is asked to 
consider the offers shown in 
Appendix 1. 

• The Committee is asked to 
agree to the disposal to the 
preferred bidder (A) which will 
discharge the statutory 
requirement to achieve best 
value and support Corporate 
Plan objectives. 

 

• If the Committee agrees to the 
recommendation we will finalise 
heads of terms on a freehold sale 
basis with the preferred bidder 
and recommend to Council to 
dispose of Thameside House to 
allow the Council to address and 
end all financial costs attached to 
the site. 

• Instruct solicitors to complete the 
disposal.  

 

2. Key issues  

2.1 The disposal of Thameside House will enable the Council to obtain a capital 
receipt, reducing borrowing costs accordingly and cease to incur holding costs 
on the site. This will, longer term, relieve pressure on the Council’s Revenue 
Budget by c. £2.50m per annum, being c. £315,500 per annum in respect of 
borrowing costs, £1.7m per annum as Minimum Revenue Provision, and c. 
£433,000 per annum in respect of vacant property costs  

2.2 Based on offers received, the sale price, will not fully offset costs associated 
with the initial purchase and historic development costs, see the financial 
section of this report. However, a disposal would generate a capital receipt 
which could be applied to assist paying off debt, which after considering the 
discount the Council receives for early repayment of Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB), equates to approximately £8.023m. The PWLB has continued to offer 
the Council a discount on the early repayment of outstanding loans at an 
average discount rate of 35%. As gilt yields and consequently PWLB rates have 
increased since the Council fixed the interest rates on its loans, the size of the 
discount available for early repayment has also risen. 

2.3 A sale supports The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government Directive to this Council following the March 2025 Best Value 
inspection report. Directive no. 3, states the Council must ‘Deliver financial 
sustainability by closing any short or long-term budget gaps and reducing the 
Authority’s exceptionally high level of external borrowing’. 

2.4 The offers, noted in Appendix 1 are based on conversion of the existing 
building, rather than full redevelopment of the site. Whilst none of the bidders 
have offered any overage provision, we intend to include an overage provision 
as a condition of the sale to cover any increase in the floor area of the property 
and/or future sale of the site within the next 5-10 years.   

2.5 The interested parties are proposing to convert the existing building from an 
office to residential use via permitted development (PD) rights.  As there is no 
new build housing being created, this does not provide for the delivery of 

Page 26



   

 

 
 

affordable housing within the scheme, meaning much of the additional social 
value criteria we would seek from new build development is not applicable to 
this disposal. No offers were received from affordable housing providers. PD 
does require formal planning agreement, but in a different form than a full 
detailed planning application, hence it is a simpler and quicker planning 
process. 

2.6 The bids received were from developers specialising in change of use rather 
than ‘new build’.  For this reason, only 1 of the 6 bidders detailed any social 
value benefits within the bids. The bidders’ approach is focused on conversion 
of the existing building and as such in the main can only really be appraised on 
the financial offers submitted.   

2.7 Bidder A’s original offer was increased at best bid stage but remained 
c.£285,000 less than Bidder Bs (full detail is provided within Appendix 1). Bidder 
A’s best bid offer did include reference to social value provision, however, was 
very high level without any detail that allowed it to be substantiated, either in 
terms of added financial value or specific beneficial impact to the Council’s 
Corporate Plan priorities.  There was also no way to provide certainty the social 
value would be delivered.   Further clarity was sought and Bidder A advised 
instead of providing specific social value provision in addition to their financial 
offer, they would increase their offer by a further £500,000. Bidder B as the 
original highest bidder was also given the opportunity to revise their bid, they 
opted not to do so. 

2.8 The increase in offer is unqualified meaning it could be used for the provision 
of social value or to reduce debt. When the additional £500,000 is added to the 
offer and compared against Bidder B’s original offer, this results in Bidder A’s 
offer now being £215,000 more than Bidder B.  For illustrative purposes if this 
were used to reduce debt this would allow a further £330,000 to be repaid 
versus £215,000 being available for the provision of social initiatives.  This 
committee is not being asked to determine the basis of how the £215,000 is 
utilised. 

  

3. Options appraisal and proposal 

3.1 The latest marketing was undertaken in two stages earlier in 2025, with initial 
offers being submitted on the 16 May. As the top 6 bids were close financially, 
best bids were requested from these parties on the 10 June. A further bid was 
received on the 23 June. We have had further dialogue with Bidder A and B on 
their social value proposals and all offers are set out in Appendix 1. 

3.2 Offers have been ranked based on the level of the financial offer, as set out in 
Appendix 1. Early high-level due diligence has been carried out by the Council’s 
agent in respect of each bidder to understand their track record regarding 
experience of similar projects, source of funding i.e. cash or borrowing, the 
conditionality of the offer, and where applicable social value on offer (initially 
Bidder A ranked only). 

3.3 Options: 

 1. Proceed with Bidder A, which is the highest financial offer, is subject to 
planning approval for PD conversion and has achieved the highest ranked 

Page 27



   

 

 
 

score when taking into account the increase in offer over the provision of social 
value initiatives they were proposing. 

 2. Proceed with Bidder B, which is the second highest financial offer, is subject 
to planning approval for PD conversion. 

 3. Procced with Bidders E or F, which are lower-level financial offers, but are 
unconditional i.e. are not subject to planning approval. Neither offer any social 
value. 

3.4 It is recommended to proceed with Bidder A, due to the increased financial 
benefit over the other offers, and/or it gives the Council the ability to allocate 
some of the funds to social initiatives.  This is a decision that will not be taken 
by this Committee.  Whilst this offer requires planning approval it is considered 
the risk with planning is minimal. In the unlikely event there were any problems 
with obtaining planning approval for the change of use, this would affect all 
bidders, and it is expected even those parties making unconditional offers 
would withdraw their bid during the legal process, hence on balance the benefit 
of unconditional offers in relation to a PD conversion is very minimal. 

 

4. Risk Implications   

4.1 The property has been marketed several times over the last 12 months and the 
most recent marketing generated good interest in the property from several 
parties and went through a best bids process. Given this recent full marketing 
we would not expect any better offers should the property be re marketed.  

4.2 Not making or delaying a decision will result in the Council continuing to bear 
the holding costs which are running at £2.5m per annum. As highlighted above 
there is a risk that over time the discount available on early repayment of debt 
could reduce, meaning the Council would not be able to pay off as much debt 
from the capital receipt. 

4.3 Adding overage (a condition of the sale where the purchaser pays an additional 
sum where the more space is built in the future) or height/massing conditions 
to the sale may affect the interest received to date, however a overage condition 
around the purchaser selling on the site within a certain period, say the next 5 
or 10 years may be acceptable to the recommended purchaser. 

4.4 Once the Council disposes of its interest in the site it loses direct control of any 
future proposals by the owner of the building, but they will still need to accord 
with planning regulations, for example on flooding, if they seek to make further 
changes which require planning permission. 

4.5 Any change of use under permitted development rights for residential will mean 
the developer will not have to provide any affordable housing.  

4.6 All reasonable due diligence will be undertaken on the preferred bidder, i.e. to 
check funding availability as well as other regular financial checks. However, 
until contracts are exchanged, as with any disposal, the legal process proceeds 
at risk of an abortive completion. 
 

5.        Financial Implications 

5.1 The financials for the site are summarised below: 

Page 28



   

 

 
 

 

Purchase Price 
inc. Stamp Duty 

and Fees 
(2018) 

Discounted 
Outstanding Loan 

Balance 
(1 August 2025) 

£10,865,000 £5,525,500 
 

 
 The estimated discounted outstanding loan balance as set out in the table 
above of £5.525m is the discounted amount that the loan may be settled at and 
this amount, whilst currently valid, is subject to daily change. If the current 
Public Works Loans Board interest rates fall (despite the recent base rate 
reduction, the PWLB rates have risen slightly recently), then the size of the 
discount will fall.  

Currently the disposal price (as per Option 1) could pay off approximately 
£8.023m of outstanding debt. It should however be noted that Council loans 
are not tied to individual assets and therefore the Council will apply the receipt 
against the outstanding PWLB balances which will provide the greatest ongoing 
Revenue Budget saving from reduced interest and minimum revenue provision. 

5.2 Total accumulated capital costs of £15.58m relating to this housing 
regeneration site, being acquisition costs of £10.86m and abortive project costs 
of £4.72m (relating to previous planning applications by the Council) have been 
written off as a prior year adjustment in 2023-24 outturn.   

 
5.3 Disposing of the asset in year would produce a corresponding part year saving 

of the holding and finance costs and would assist with closing the Council’s 
2026-27 Budget gap. 

 

6. Legal comments  

6.1     Further to sections 120-123 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has 
the powers to acquire and dispose of land for the purpose of any of its functions. 
To satisfy the requirements of section 123 not to dispose of land for 
“consideration less than the best that can reasonably be obtained”, a valuation 
needs to be obtained.  A disposal where the difference between the valuation 
and the sale price is more than £2m will require consent of the Secretary of 
State. 

6.2 Any disposal will be subject to the terms of the contract, transfer and any other 
necessary legal documentation. The Council’s in house Legal Services will 
provide support and external legal advice will be obtained if required. 

6.3 Failure to obtain best consideration from the proposed disposals may expose 
the Council to risk of legal challenge by way of a judicial review which will result 
in substantial legal costs and reputational damage. 

6.4 The proposed disposal seeks to demonstrate compliance with the Best Value 
Duty in the Local Government Act 1999.  

 

 

Page 29



   

 

 
 

 

Corporate Implications 

 

7.       S151 Officer comments 

7.1 As part of the Council’s need to achieve a sustainable medium term financial 
position, it is seeking, in line with the Best Value Directives and the 
Improvement and Recovery Plan going to September Council, to undertake a 
prudent and informed assets disposals programme in order to maximise capital 
receipts to enable the Council to progress its debt reduction strategy.  

The proposed disposal contributes towards this objective. As the report 
indicates the site has been through more than one marketing exercise which 
provides reassurance as to the reasonableness of the offer. If the Council were 
to defer this disposal, then holding costs would be extended, and there is a risk 
that the future discount rate on early repayment of debt would be reduced. As 
the report sets out £4.7m of abortive costs are being written off as a prior year 
adjustment to 2023-24 accounts part of the 2024-25 Statement of Accounts 
process. The need to bring to an end the ongoing holding costs to the Council 
of this asset, is particularly sharpened by the application of Minimum Revenue 
Provision, moving forwards from 2025-26 the accounting calculation of 
Minimum Revenue Provision to be charged to Revenue for this surplus asset 
will equate to £1.7m reflecting the short term nature of the expected useful 
economic life of the asset. It is therefore key that this asset is disposed of as 
quickly as possible. 

 

8. Monitoring Officer comments 

8.1 The Monitoring Officer confirms that the relevant legal implications have been 
considered. 

 

9. Procurement comments  

9.1  As this is a disposal, there are no direct procurement implications, which 
typically relate to purchasing.  However, by marketing the site the Council has 
ensured the property has been exposed to as many interested parties as 
possible to allow bids to be submitted. 

 

10 Equality and Diversity 

10.1 There are no direct equality issues arising from this property disposal. 

 

11 Sustainability/Climate Change Implications 

11.1  The disposal of Thameside House will reduce the Council’s carbon footprint by 
removing the Scope 3 emissions currently associated with holding a vacant 
site. Scope 3 emissions are the indirect greenhouse gas emissions that occur 
because of the Council’s activities but are generated from sources it does not 
directly own or control, such as those from purchased goods and services, 
waste management, and outsourced operations. In the case of Thameside 

Page 30



   

 

 
 

House, these arise from ongoing activities including security, utilities, waste, 
and maintenance services, all of which add to the Council’s footprint while the 
asset remains vacant. By progressing with disposal, the Council will no longer 
incur these holding-related Scope 3 emissions, thereby improving its 
sustainability position and aligning with its climate change objectives to 
minimise indirect carbon impacts across the property portfolio. 

 

12 Other considerations 

12.1    Meeting best value requirements and achieving the best consideration must be 
a key part of the Council’s decision-making process.   

12.2 Planning Comments: 

Thameside House (Local Plan Ref ST1/037) is allocated for “up to 140 
residential units” Whilst there are EA considerations in respect of flooding for 
new build development, the recommended purchaser is not intending to alter 
the external envelope of the building, hence the EA policy in relation to flooding 
is not considered to be a material consideration in relation to the conversion of 
the building from office to residential. 

 Any development requiring planning permission will need to comply with the 
Spelthorne Design Code once it is adopted, which is currently anticipated for 
late Autumn 2025. However, as this is a conversion not a new build the same 
principle applies as with the flooding i.e. this would not apply here. 

In respect of change of use of Thameside House, the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 
amended), Schedule 2 Part 3, Class MA – commercial, business and service 
uses to dwellinghouses states that “development consisting of a change of use 
of a building and any land within its curtilage from a use falling within Class E 
(commercial, business and service) of Schedule 2 to the Use Classes Order to 
a use falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of Schedule 1 to that Order is 
Permitted Development”. 
 
It appears the property does not sit within one of the 10 areas where PD rights 
are not possible. 
 
Before beginning development under Class MA, the developer must apply to 
the local planning authority for a determination as to whether the prior approval 
of the authority will be required, with the relevant considerations listed below.  
 

 transport impacts of the development, particularly to ensure safe 
site access.  

 contamination risks in relation to the building.  

 flooding risks in relation to the building.  

 impacts of noise from commercial premises on the intended 
occupiers of the development.  

 The provision of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of 
the dwelling houses.  

 Where the development meets the fire risk condition, the fire 
safety impacts on the intended occupants of the building. 

Page 31



   

 

 
 

 The development must be completed within a period of 3 years 
starting with the prior approval date 

 
None of the developers have provided further details on their anticipated 
schemes and therefore no further comment can be made on the specifics of 
the offers and their ability to satisfy the PD requirements. 

 

13 Timetable for implementation 

13.1  If the recommendation is approved heads of terms will be agreed with the 
preferred bidder as soon as possible with full council signing off the approved 
purchaser/terms prior to completion.  

 

14 Contact 

14.1    Bruce Strong, Asset Manager, b.strong@spelthorne.gov.uk. 

 
Background papers: (Part 2) 
Appendix 1 - Schedule of Offers 
 

Page 32



Document is Restricted

Page 33

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 35

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 37

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 45

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 47

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 53

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	DRAFT Mins 04 September
	DRAFT Mins 07 August 25
	Minutes


	7 Questions from members of the public
	8 Thameside House
	Appendix 1 - Thameside House - Schedule June 2025

	10 Sunbury Site
	Sunbury Site
	Appendix 1 - Financial Table & Confidential Terms
	Appendix 2 - CPRC Report 17 March 2025
	Appendix 3 - Record of the Council’s decision on 18 March 2025


